© Adis International Limited, All rights reserved.

# Management of Chronic Inflammatory Demyelinating Polyradiculoneuropathy

Richard A. C. Hughes

Department of Clinical Neurosciences, Guy's, King's and St Thomas' School of Medicine, London, UK

# **Contents**

Abstract
1. Diagnosis
2. Natural History
3. Pathogenesis
4. Treatment
4.1 Corticosteroids
4.2 Plasma Exchange
4.3 Intravenous Immunoglobulin
4.4 Azathioprine
4.5 Cyclophosphamide
4.6 Cyclosporin
4.7 Other Immunosuppressive Regimens
4.8 Interferons
5. Multifocal Motor Neuropathy
6. General Management
7. Patient Support Groups
8. Conclusions

## **Abstract**

This review briefly describes current concepts concerning the nosological status, pathogenesis and management of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP). CIDP is an uncommon variable disorder of unknown but probably autoimmune aetiology. The commonest form of CIDP causes more or less symmetrical progressive or relapsing weakness affecting proximal and distal muscles. Against this background the review describes the short-term responses to corticosteroids, intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg) and plasma exchange that have been confirmed in randomised trials. In the absence of better evidence about long-term efficacy, corticosteroids or IVIg are usually favoured because of convenience. Benefit following introduction of azathioprine, cyclophosphamide, cyclosporin, other immunosuppressive agents, and interferon-β and  $-\alpha$  has been reported but randomised trials are needed to confirm these benefits. In patients with pure motor CIDP and multifocal motor neuropathy, corticosteroids may cause worsening and IVIg is more likely to be effective. General measures to rehabilitate patients and manage symptoms, including foot drop, weak hands, fatigue and pain, are important.

After a brief description of current concepts concerning the nosological status and pathogenesis this review considers the management of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP). Parts of this article are based on four Cochrane systematic reviews [1-4] and on another review written by the author.<sup>[5]</sup>

# 1. Diagnosis

CIDP began to emerge as a syndrome separate from Guillain-Barré syndrome with the description of recurrent corticosteroid-responsive neuropathy by Austin in 1958.<sup>[6]</sup> Thomas et al. described patients with a recurrent or chronic relapsing illness whose electrophysiological and pathological features resembled those of the acute inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy form of Guillain-Barré syndrome.<sup>[7]</sup> They compared it to chronic experimental autoimmune neuritis and suggested an autoimmune aetiology.

The description of increasingly large series of patients<sup>[8-11]</sup> led to a clearer clinical picture and eventually a consensus definition by an American Academy of Neurology committee.[12] This definition required fulfilment of clinical and electrophysiological criteria for a probable diagnosis and pathological criteria as well for a definite diagnosis (table I). Nerve biopsy may show characteristic macrophage-associated demyelination and lymphocytic infiltration. However, in the largest series, biopsies have more often shown only non-uniform loss of nerve fibres and ongoing axonal degeneration, which are the consequence of more proximal inflammation. Consequently, many consider nerve biopsy unnecessary.[13,14] Electrophysiological investigation on the other hand is crucial. The American Academy of Neurology electrophysiological criteria exclude many patients who would otherwise be considered to have CIDP.[14] Less strict European criteria have been shown to be more sensitive and adequately specific.<sup>[15]</sup> Briefly, these criteria require conduction block or temporal dispersion or abnormal nerve conduction values suggesting demyelination in at least one segment of three different nerves. At least one of the nerves

 $\begin{tabular}{ll} \textbf{Table I.} Diagnostic criteria for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy $^{12}$ \\ \end{tabular}$ 

#### Clinical

Progressive or relapsing motor and sensory (rarely only motor and sensory) dysfunction of the limbs developing over at least 2 months Reduced or absent tendon reflexes

Absence of alternative cause, e.g. relevant toxin exposure, family history

Absence of CNS involvement

#### Neurophysiological

Neurophysiological studies indicating the presence of multifocal demyelination

#### Cerebrospinal fluid

Cell count <10/mm<sup>3</sup> or >10/mm<sup>3</sup> if HIV positive (protein usually increased)<sup>a</sup>

#### Nerve biopsv<sup>a</sup>

Unequivocal evidence of demyelination or remyelination (inflammation, onion bulb formation, variation between fascicles)

a Supportive but not mandatory.

must show abnormal nerve conduction values. The cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) protein is increased in at least 80% of patients with CIDP and has been proposed as a requirement for a definite diagnosis. [14]

Diagnosis of CIDP is the first step in management. It is likely that patients with CIDP go unrecognised because it is so variable. Opportunities for missing the diagnosis abound and the steps necessary for making the diagnosis have recently been reviewed. [5] The diagnosis requires consideration in every patient with chronic peripheral neuropathy, in patients with Guillain-Barré syndrome with a prolonged onset phase or recurrence, and in patients with peripheral neuropathy resembling Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease but lacking a molecular genetic diagnosis or family history.

Neuropathy occurring with diabetes mellitus, systemic lupus erythematosus and various cancers may resemble CIDP, and might be coincidental or represent aetiologically important associations. Of greater importance is the association with paraproteinaemia, which occurs in about 10% of patients with an acquired demyelinating neuropathy. [16] The paraproteinaemia may be monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance, Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia or solitary plas-

macytoma. A paraprotein should always be sought in a patient with CIDP. The management of such patients depends on the underlying cause of the plasma cell dyscrasia. [14,17]

# 2. Natural History

Minimum estimates of the prevalence of CIDP are 1-2 per 100 000. [18,19] It affects any age but is more common in the middle-aged and elderly, and in men than women. It is typically a symmetrical sensory and motor disorder pursuing a relapsing, progressive or monophasic course in which the progressive phase is greater than 2 months. Variants with purely sensory symptoms, purely motor symptoms and marked asymmetry have been described. The last was originally described by Lewis and Sumner<sup>[20]</sup> and has recently been called multifocal acquired demyelinating sensory and motor neuropathy (MADSAM).[21] It is characterised by sites of persistent conduction block persisting over many years. Another variant has similar persistent sites of conduction block but only affects motor nerve fibres. This is now called multifocal motor neuropathy (MMN) and may be a different condition rather than a variant because, unlike CIDP, it is associated with antibodies to ganglioside GM1 and, again unlike CIDP, it does not respond to corticosteroids and may be made worse by them.<sup>[22]</sup>

The clinical course is variable and unpredictable. In a population based study, 13% of 46 patients in the South East Thames region of England required aid to walk and 54% were receiving medical treatment on the prevalence date.[18] In large series 4–17% have died of their disease, usually as a consequence of respiratory failure or pulmonary embolism. [8,10,11,23,24] There are no obvious precipitants of most relapses but there are two reports of recurrent attacks occurring after tetanus toxoid immunisation.<sup>[25]</sup> Relapses were 3-fold more frequent during pregnancy than during nonpregnancy years in one series.<sup>[26]</sup> In a series of 21 patients with predominantly or purely motor CIDP, the prognosis was worse in the older patients (aged >50 years).[27] The prognosis and response to immunotherapy were also worse in another series in 35 patients over 64 years of age than in 89 younger patients.<sup>[28]</sup>

# 3. Pathogenesis

The evidence for inflammation in CIDP comes from the identification of endoneurial inflammation in active peripheral nerve lesions. Patients do not have an obvious systemic illness and generally feel well apart from their neuropathic symptoms. Although not proven, CIDP is generally considered to be an autoimmune disease caused by either humoral or cell-mediated immunity directed against myelin or Schwann cell antigens that have not been clearly identified.<sup>[29]</sup> Enhanced T-cell responsiveness to P0 and P2 myelin was somewhat greater than that in controls but not significantly so.<sup>[30]</sup> Increased concentrations of soluble interleukin (IL)-2 receptor and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)α in the serum of patients with CIDP have been found in most, [31,32] but not all, series [29] suggesting the involvement of T cells. The inflammatory infiltrate consists of activated T cells and macrophages, which secrete cytokines and enzymes including TNFa and matrix metalloproteinase 9.[24,32-34] The T cells in the nerve have a heterogeneous Vβ gene repertoire, which does not favour an immune response to a restricted antigen.[35] However, this does not exclude an initially restricted T-cell response, such as occurs in blood T cells in Guillain-Barré syndrome, [36] followed by later epitope spreading.

The search for antibodies in the serum, which might cause and help diagnose CIDP, has not identified a single typical antibody. Antibodies to different individual myelin proteins or glycolipids are found in small percentages of patients. Antibodies to ganglioside GM1 are found in approximately 50% of patients with MMN, but only in 10% or less of patients with CIDP.<sup>[22]</sup> Antibodies to tubulin were proposed and then discarded as a helpful diagnostic test.<sup>[37-39]</sup> Antibodies to neuroblastoma cells were reported in 42% of 48 patients but their relevance to pathogenesis is obscure.<sup>[40]</sup> Antibodies to two myelin trans-membrane proteins seem more likely candidates. Antibodies to PMP22 were

found in 35% of 17 patients<sup>[41]</sup> and antibodies to the major myelin glycoprotein P0 were found in 16–29% of patients in two studies, <sup>[42,43]</sup> but not in two others.<sup>[44,45]</sup> Sera containing antibodies to P0 were shown to produce demyelination following injection into rat sciatic nerve.<sup>[43]</sup> Since no single antigen has emerged as being a common target in all patients with CIDP it seems likely that the antigenic target varies from patient to patient. Protein antigens expressed at the myelinating Schwann cell surface, such as PMP22 and P0, seem the most likely targets.

The reason for the development of autoimmunity in CIDP is not known. One study showed that suppressor cell function is defective in CIDP, a defect that was corrected by interferon (IFN)-β.<sup>[46]</sup> There are old reports of a weak association with HLA class I antigen Cw7 and HLA class II antigen DR3 or DW3.<sup>[47-49]</sup> These would be worth investigating further since genetic immunosusceptibility is likely to be the underlying cause for the development of autoimmunity.

# 4. Treatment

# 4.1 Corticosteroids

Austin in 1958 established the existence of recurrent steroid-responsive neuropathy with repeated comparisons of response to corticosteroids or placebo in a single patient. [6] Dalakas and Engel treated 25 patients with CIDP in a large, uncontrolled study with corticosteroids alone, and 'the majority' improved. They emphasised that a lag period usually of 1-4 weeks, but occasionally up to 5 months, occurred from onset of therapy to the first sign of improvement.<sup>[50]</sup> They recommended high doses of corticosteroids for about 1 year, then cautious tapering to avoid pharmacorelapses and long-term, low maintenance doses to prevent spontaneous relapses. McCombe et al. reported a study of 92 patients of all ages.<sup>[10]</sup> Sixty patients (65%) had a relapsing course and 32 patients (35%) a progressive or monophasic course. Seventy-six patients were treated with corticosteroids. Forty-nine patients (65%) made a good recovery and became

independent. Similarly Barohn et al. studied 60 patients aged 10-77 years.[11] Patients were started on a regimen of prednisone 100 mg/day for 2-4 weeks and then switched to prednisone 100mg as a single dose on alternate days. This regimen was continued until the clinical improvement plateaued. If the patient's response was poor or a relapse occurred, either azathioprine or plasma exchange was added to the treatment. Fifty-six (95%) of 59 treated patients showed initial improvement with immunosuppressive treatment. The mean  $(\pm SD)$  time for improvement was 1.9  $(\pm 3.6)$ months. The mean time to reach a clinical plateau was 6.6 (±5.4) months. Molenaar et al. treated 10 patients with dexamethasone 40 mg/day for 4 consecutive days every 28 days for six cycles.<sup>[51]</sup> Five had previously improved with intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIg), one with corticosteroids and azathioprine, and three had not been treated. One patient stopped treatment because of vomiting and weight gain. Six patients went into sustained remission, one improved but then relapsed, one continued to worsen and one (with pure motor CIDP) worsened dramatically. A randomised, controlled trial (RCT) of this regimen is in progress. Beneficial effects of corticosteroids have also been documented in children with CIDP.[52-54] The experience from published series uniformly suggests that corticosteroids induce at least short-term improvement in two-thirds to 95% of adult patients with CIDP.

The only available RCT of corticosteroids in CIDP compared prednisone, starting with 120 mg/day and tapering over 12 weeks, with no treatment and included 35 evaluable patients.<sup>[55]</sup> The methodological quality of this trial was reduced by the failure to conceal allocation and any use of blinding. Nevertheless, in other respects the trial was meticulously performed. The authors concluded that corticosteroids significantly reduced impairment and improved measures of nerve conduction. The interpretation of the results of the trial is critically dependent on how the withdrawn patients are analysed. On the one hand, one withdrawn prednisone recipient died and another re-

mained ventilated, which argues against prednisone. On the other hand, two withdrawn control patients worsened and then improved on prednisone, which favours prednisone. The trial did show a strong trend towards improvement in several measures of impairment and nerve conduction, but the absence of a true intention-to-treat analysis weakens the strength of the evidence that corticosteroids are beneficial.<sup>[2]</sup>

The overall conclusion from the only available trial, case series and published opinion is that corticosteroids are beneficial in CIDP. There may be a lag period usually of 1–4 weeks, but occasionally up to 5 months, from the onset of therapy to the first sign of improvement. Care must be exercised in starting treatment because occasional patients deteriorate, especially those with pure motor forms of CIDP or with multifocal motor neuropathy with conduction block.<sup>[56]</sup> The exact mechanism by which corticosteroids cause worsening in these CIDP variants is not known. The serious adverse effects of prolonged corticosteroid treatment are a major disadvantage.

# 4.2 Plasma Exchange

Plasma exchange was reported to offer at least short-term benefit in patients with CIDP in the late 1970s and early 1980s by several authors.<sup>[57-61]</sup> Subsequently its efficacy was confirmed in two RCTs. Dyck and colleagues at the Mayo clinic undertook a double-blind trial comparing twice weekly plasma exchange or sham exchange for 3 weeks. They showed significantly greater improvement in impairment and motor nerve conduction measurements in 15 patients randomised to plasma exchange than in 14 patients randomised to sham.[62] Hahn and colleagues in London, Ontario, Canada, undertook a crossover trial comparing plasma exchange with sham exchange in 18 treatment naïve patients of whom 16 completed the crossover period. Patients received four exchanges in the first week, three in the second, two in the third and one in the fourth. There were significant improvements in impairment, disability, grip strength and proximal compound muscle action

potential amplitude with plasma exchange which were not seen with sham exchange. [63] A Cochrane systematic review is in progress and is likely to conclude that plasma exchange produces short-term improvement.

In order to maintain improvement, plasma exchange has to be repeated at variable intervals, but often as little as four weeks, which is inconvenient and eventually gives rise to difficulties with venous access. Bromberg et al. reported one patient who responded to regular plasma exchange after failing to respond to vigorous immunosuppressive regimens. [64] In a follow-up study of 105 patients we treated 33 with plasma exchange and 23 responded: seven patients required repeated treatment for between 8 months and 5 years.<sup>[65]</sup> These patients were eventually transferred to IVIg, but one did not respond to IVIg and continued to receive plasma exchange for 6 more years. In this patient, an n-of-1 trial showed that plasma exchange was more effective than immunoabsorption.[66] The usefulness of plasma exchange as a treatment for CIDP is limited by its inconvenience, requirement for hospital attendance and specially trained staff, and the occurrence of adverse events. Complications, usually from the use of a central venous catheter, were reported in 17% of 381 procedures in one series and one was fatal.<sup>[67]</sup>

## 4.3 Intravenous Immunoglobulin

Maas et al. reported that infusion of fresh frozen plasma was as effective as plasma exchange in a patient with CIDP. [68] Vermeulen et al. showed that plasma and then IVIg infusion appeared to benefit patients with CIDP. [69] This observation was replicated in many case series and eventually confirmed in three randomised trials in IVIg-naïve patients [70-72] but not in a fourth. [72,73] The evidence from these trials has been summarised in a meta-analysis. [3] For three of the trials, including 87 patients for whom the data were available, the authors found that a significantly higher proportion of patients improved one point on the Rankin scale after IVIg compared with placebo (relative risk 2.47, 95% CI 1.02–6.01). Unfortunately the

benefit is short-lived. It commonly lasts only 4 weeks and seldom more than 12 weeks, so that treatment, which is very expensive, has to be repeated.

A crossover trial in 20 patients did not find a significant difference between the short-term effects of IVIg and plasma exchange courses of similar cost.<sup>[74]</sup> Finally, our own crossover trial in 32 patients did not detect any significant difference between the short-term benefits from IVIg and oral prednisolone.<sup>[75]</sup>

In case series approximately two thirds of patients respond to treatment with IVIg, of whom one third improve and do not require further treatment and two thirds require repeated courses at intervals. The intervals vary between 2 and 12 weeks, and doses between 0.4 and 2.0 g/kg.<sup>[65,76,77]</sup>

# 4.4 Azathioprine

Azathioprine is a broad spectrum immunosuppressive agent and is probably the one most commonly used in CIDP. Uncontrolled observations from case reports and case series in the literature provide little hard information about the value of azathioprine in CIDP. In 1981 Dalakas and Engel<sup>[50]</sup> described azathioprine as their immunosuppressive drug of choice. They used a 3 mg/kg single daily dose and considered that a clinical effect could be detected in between 1 and 12 weeks. They reported improvement in three of four patients with steroid-resistant CIDP to almost 90-95% of normal. They also considered that azathioprine has a steroid-sparing action in patients who responded to corticosteroids. In a series of 59 treated patients, 56 (95%) responded to immunosuppressive treatment which started with prednisone and then included azathioprine in the event of a relapse or poor response: the number who received azathioprine was not stated.[11] Seven of a series of 92 patients with CIDP were treated with azathioprine and four improved by at least one point on a six point disability scale.[10] One widely respected textbook recommends azathioprine as a substitute for prednisone in patients with CIDP who have contraindications to corticosteroids.<sup>[78]</sup> In a disease

with a relapsing remitting course and a drug that has a slow onset of action conclusions are particularly difficult to draw from anecdotal observations.

The only RCT compared 14 adult patients randomised to azathioprine 2 mg/kg and prednisone with 13 patients treated with prednisone alone.[79] The trial had a parallel group design and treatment lasted 9 months. The observers and participants were not blinded. Follow-up data were not available for one azathioprine and prednisone recipient and three prednisone alone recipients. There were no significant differences after 4-9 months in any of 16 variables including a neuropathy impairment score, other measures of impairment, motor nerve conduction and CSF protein. The trial lacked power to detect or exclude any but very large treatment effects. Furthermore, it only tested a dose of 2 mg/kg, whereas a dose of 2.5 mg/kg or sometimes 3.0 mg/kg has been used in other conditions such as multiple sclerosis and Crohn's disease.[80] The trial also only continued treatment for 9 months, whereas in a similar trial in myasthenia gravis a treatment effect did not become evident until after 12 months.[81] Consequently, it would be premature to draw conclusions about the efficacy of azathioprine from this trial and the drug is often used as a first line immunosuppressive treatment when corticosteroids and IVIg are inadequate.

Adverse effects from azathioprine include nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea and allergic reactions including rash, which prevent its continuation in about 10% of patients. It also causes leucopenia, altered liver function and increased susceptibility to infection. It carries a theoretical risk of inducing neoplasia. Azathioprine is metabolised by thiopurine methyl transferase, and 10% of the population are heterozygotes and 0.3% homozygotes for deficiency of this enzyme. Measurement of the enzyme levels before starting treatment allows detection of the heterozygotes, whose dose should be halved, and homozygotes, who should probably not be given the drug. [84] It should also not be used with allopurinol.

Azathioprine is less expensive than most immunosuppressive drugs. In 2002, the UK National Health Service (NHS) cost of giving 150 mg/day for a year was £300. To this cost must be added the costs of monitoring the haematological and liver function, which are required for as long as treatment is continued, and the costs of treating adverse effects. However, if the drug is effective it might result in savings because of reduced healthcare costs arising from the disability which CIDP causes and especially from the reduced usage of IVIg.

# 4.5 Cyclophosphamide

Cyclophosphamide is an alkylating agent which can be given orally or by intravenous injection. Oral cyclophosphamide 2 mg/kg was reported to be beneficial in one patient with CIDP.[50] Another report described benefit in four of five patients but did not mention the dose or route.[10] A series of 36 patients were treated in turn, depending on response, corticosteroids, IVIg, plasma exchange and finally oral cyclophosphamide 2 mg/kg/day for 6-12 months.<sup>[24]</sup> Three patients who had not responded to previous agents also failed to respond to this cyclophosphamide regimen. A series of 15 patients were treated with intravenous pulses of 1 g/m<sup>2</sup> monthly for a maximum of 6 months with careful precautions to avoid dehydration and premedication to reduce nausea. [85] Twelve patients showed marked improvement, 11 improving to normal. Three did not improve and one worsened. All patients developed a drug-induced leucopenia. Six patients had minor adverse effects and two developed alopecia. None developed haematuria, prolonged bone marrow depression or neoplasia, all of which are serious adverse effects associated with high-dose cyclophosphamide. Additional likely adverse effects are increased susceptibility to infection and ovarian failure, but neither were not reported in this series. Brannagan et al. induced long-term remissions in four patients with high dose cyclophosphamide without stem-cell rescue. [86] The impressive results in these case series strongly suggest treatment benefit. The risk of serious adverse effects discourages many patients and their neurologists from using this drug.

# 4.6 Cyclosporin

Another drug that has been used quite frequently in patients with CIDP is cyclosporin, which particularly inhibits the proliferation of T cells. In one patient its use combined with plasma exchange appeared successful when corticosteroids and then plasma exchange alone had failed.[87] The largest series is that of Pollard and McLeod<sup>[88,89]</sup> who treated 19 patients with CIDP but five had a paraprotein which excludes them from consideration in this review. At the beginning of their series they used a high dose of cyclosporin, 10 mg/kg/day reduced to 8 mg/kg/day after 1 month and 5 mg/kg/day after 3 months, but later they reduced the starting dose 3-7 mg/kg and the maintenance dose to 2-3 mg/kg. All 14 patients without a paraprotein improved either with a reduction in disability by at least one grade or by a reduction in the annual relapse rate. Eleven of the 19 patients experienced adverse effects, nephrotoxicity in four, hypertension in four, nausea in three, oedema in three and hirsutism in four. These are the common adverse effects of cyclosporin, which, together with expense, have precluded its more widespread use. The adverse effects were less with lower doses. This series suggests but does not prove that cyclosporin is beneficial in CIDP: there is no doubt that it causes potentially serious adverse effects.

## 4.7 Other Immunosuppressive Regimens

The successful use of tacrolimus (FK-506) in a single patient with treatment-resistant CIDP has been reported.<sup>[90]</sup> It was ineffective in a similar patient in whom I tried it.

Mycophenolate is becoming popular as an alternative to azathioprine and cyclosporin in prevention of renal transplants and reports are beginning to appear of its use in neurological disease. For instance, there is a recent report of benefit from mycophenolate in two patients with CIDP. [91] However, Chaudhry et al. reported benefit in only

two of three patients<sup>[92]</sup> and I have not found it helpful in five, admittedly treatment-resistant, patients.

Although methotrexate is very commonly used in rheumatoid arthritis there appear to be no substantial series of patients with CIDP having been treated with this drug. Molenaar et al. briefly mention benefit in one patient<sup>[51]</sup> and I have used it as an adjunct to corticosteroids and IVIg in two patients with apparent benefit. Its use would merit further study.

Etanercept is a recombinant dimeric fusion protein consisting of part of the TNF receptor linked to the IgG Fc component. It is expected to inhibit the action of TNF and is an efficacious treatment for rheumatoid arthritis. There is a single report of its successful use in treatment resistant CIDP. [93] Of concern is that there are more than 20 reports of its use in rheumatoid arthritis triggering the onset of multiple sclerosis. [94]

There is a single report of substantial improvement following autologous stem cell transplantation in a single treatment-resistant patient. The reason that more patients have not been treated with this regimen is that it still carries a 5% mortality because of the risks associated with extreme immunosuppression.

# 4.8 Interferons

IFNβ is a naturally occurring cytokine, which down regulates inflammatory responses and has been shown to reduce relapse frequency and bloodbrain barrier leakage in multiple sclerosis. IFNB-1a is a recombinant protein manufactured in mammalian cells that exactly replicates human IFNB. We found an apparently beneficial effect in one patient with treatment-resistant CIDP. [96] In a prospective, open study four patients with moderately severe CIDP received a 6-month course of IFNβ-1a 22μg three times weekly for 3 weeks and then 44µg three times weekly for 8.5–10.3 months.[97] There was no statistically significant benefit, two patients showed moderate improvement and one relapsed on treatment with IFNβ-1a alone. When the treatment was combined with IVIg improvement did

occur but this might have been due to the known beneficial effect of IVIg. An open study claimed benefit from IFN $\beta$ -1a 22 $\mu$ g three times weekly in one patient with pure motor CIDP and three with multifocal motor neuropathy. <sup>[98]</sup>

Encouraged by our own experience we undertook a randomised trial comparing IFNβ-1a with placebo in a crossover design.[99] Ten adult patients with treatment resistant CIDP were randomised to receive IFNβ-1a (Rebif®1) 11µg subcutaneously three time weekly for 2 weeks and then 22µg three times weekly for 10 weeks or a similar appearing placebo. After a 1-week wash-out period patients were started on the opposite treatment to that which they had received during the first treatment period. There was no significant difference between improvement on measures of disability, impairment or quality of life comparing the IFNβ-1a and placebo treatment periods. The negative result has to be considered in the context of the facts that the patients were resistant to other treatments. only received treatment for 12 weeks and received a low dose, maximum 22µg subcutaneously three times weekly. In subsequent trials in patients with multiple sclerosis IFNβ-1a (Rebif®) 44µg three times weekly has been more effective on most parameters than 22µg three times weekly.[100,101] In a subsequent series of five patients with CIDP, treatment with IFNβ-1a (Rebif®) 44μg three times a week (combined with IVIg in four) for between 5 and 29 months appeared effective.[102]

IFN $\beta$  often causes minor skin reactions and alterations of liver function and white cell counts, but serious adverse effects are rare. Its main disadvantage is expense. In 2002, the UK NHS price is £7000–£12 000 per year.

IFN $\alpha$  is another naturally occurring cytokine, which has complex, incompletely understood immunoregulatory actions. It is used to enhance immune reactions and so treat hepatitis C. It up-regulates immune responses and has been reported to cause autoimmune diseases including CIDP. [103,104] Despite this, IFN $\alpha$  has been used to treat CIDP. In

<sup>1</sup> Use of tradenames is for identification purposes only and does not imply endorsement.

the largest series,  $^{[105]}16$  patients, of whom two had a paraprotein, were treated with IFN $\alpha$ -2a at a dosage of 3 million IU subcutaneously three times a week for 6 weeks. Of the 14 without a paraprotein, nine responded to IFN $\alpha$ : five had a sustained improvement, one improved, received plasma exchange and then had sustained improvement, and three relapsed. Minor adverse effects consisting of fatigue, fever, malaise, myalgia and arthralgia were common. In another series, six of 12 patients treated with 2–3 million IU improved, allegedly without any adverse effects.  $^{[106]}$  Like IFN $\beta$ , IFN $\alpha$  is very expensive.

# 5. Multifocal Motor Neuropathy

One of the principal differences between MMN and CIDP is the absence in MMN of the response to corticosteroids that is usual in CIDP. In fact, in MMN and pure motor forms of CIDP, corticosteroid treatment may cause serious worsening.[56] A Cochrane systematic review listed anecdotal reports of treatment with corticosteroids which were often followed by deterioration and rarely caused improvement.<sup>[4]</sup> There have also been a few reports of the use of plasma exchange which has usually had little effect, sometimes been followed by improvement and sometimes by deterioration. By contrast IVIg is often dramatically and rapidly effective, experience that is supported by three small trials.[107-109] Unfortunately the improvement is short-lived and not invariable, and disability progresses despite repeated treatment. Many different immunosuppressive drugs, but principally cyclophosphamide, have been tried but without any randomised trials. The evidence from nonrandomised studies is inadequate to conclude whether any particular immunosuppressive agent is effective. [4] As for patients with CIDP, repeated treatment is usually needed in patients with MMN.

# 6. General Management

Preventive and palliative treatments are as important in CIDP as in other forms of neuropathy. Foot care, appropriate shoes or boots, ankle-foot orthoses, wrist splints, weight reduction, physio-

therapy, occupational therapy and counselling about prognosis and coping with disability are obviously important in different patients. Their prescription depends on common sense and experience more than evidence from randomised trials. Autonomic involvement is relatively uncommon in CIDP, but erectile impotence does occur and in my experience will usually respond to sildenafil. In the 20% of patients with pain from their CIDP the use of tricyclic antidepressants, anti-epileptic drugs and tramadol has been endorsed by systematic reviews or randomised trials of treatment for neuropathic pain (not undertaken specifically in CIDP).[110] Because of reports of relapse of CIDP after immunisation, more than usual caution should be observed before recommending immunisation, especially with tetanus toxoid.[25,111] Finally, fatigue is a significant problem for many patients<sup>[112]</sup> and there are no trials to determine whether tricyclic antidepressants, exercise programmes or other treatments are helpful.

# 7. Patient Support Groups

The US-based Guillain-Barré Syndrome Foundation International (http://www.guillain-barre.com) and the UK-based Guillain-Barré Syndrome Support Group (http://www.gbs.org.uk) are both sites that provide well edited information and support to people with Guillain-Barré syndrome, CIDP and related conditions.

The Peripheral Neuropathy Trust site (http://www.neuropathy-trust.org) provides information about all forms of neuropathy, especially chronic idiopathic axonal neuropathy and painful neuropathy.

## 8. Conclusions

CIDP is heterogeneous: the most common form causes more or less symmetrical progressive or relapsing weakness affecting proximal and distal muscles. Its prevalence is at least 1–2 per 100 000. Its severity is variable. Half require persistent treatment, 13% are permanently disabled and 5–17% die from the disease.

Corticosteroids, IVIg and plasma exchange all have similar short-term efficacy. In the absence of better evidence about long-term efficacy, corticosteroids or IVIg are usually favoured because of convenience.

Benefit following introduction of azathioprine, cyclophosphamide, cyclosporin, other immunosuppressive agents and IFN $\beta$  and IFN $\alpha$  has been reported, but randomised trials are needed to confirm these benefits.

In patients with pure motor CIDP and multifocal motor neuropathy, corticosteroids may cause worsening and IVIg is more likely to be effective.

General measures to cope with foot drop, weak hands, fatigue and pain are important.

# **Acknowledgements**

Dr Hughes thanks the authors of the Cochrane Systematic Reviews on which much of this article was based. He has received honoraria for lecturing and travel expenses from LFB, LKB, Novartis, Octapharma and Serono and his department has received research grants from Novartis and Serono. Serono manufactures IFN $\beta$ -1a and the other companies manufacture or did manufacture human immunoglobulin.

#### References

- Hughes RAC, Swan AV, van Doorn PA. Cytotoxic drugs and interferons for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (Protocol for a Cochrane Review). Cochrane Database Syst Rev Issue 3. 2001. Oxford: Update Software
- Mehndiratta MM, Hughes RAC. Corticosteroids for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (Cochrane Review). Cochrane Database Syst Rev 3. 2001. Oxford: Update Software
- Van Schaik IS, Winer JB, de Haan R, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (Cochrane Review). Cochrane Database Syst Rev Issue 2. 2002. Oxford: Update Software
- Umapathi T, Léger J-M, Nobile-Orazio E, et al. Immunosuppressants for treating multifocal motor neuropathy (Cochrane review). Cochrane Database Syst Rev Issue 2. 2002. Oxford: Update Software
- Hughes RAC. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Practical Neurology 2002. In press
- Austin JH. Recurrent polyneuropathies and their corticosteroid treatment. Brain 1958; 81: 157-92
- Thomas PK, Lascelles RG, Hallpike JF, et al. Recurrent and chronic relapsing Guillain-Barré polyneuritis. Brain 1969; 92: 589-606
- Dyck PJ, Lais AC, Ohta M, et al. Chronic inflammatory polyradiculoneuropathy. Mayo Clin Proc 1975; 50: 621-51
- Prineas JW, McLeod JG. Chronic relapsing polyneuritis. J Neurol Sci 1976; 27: 427-58

 McCombe PA, Pollard JD, McLeod JG. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Brain 1987; 110: 1617-30

- Barohn RJ, Kissel JT, Warmolts JR, et al. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Clinical characteristics, course, and recommendations for diagnostic criteria. Arch Neurol 1989; 46: 878-84
- Ad Hoc Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology AIDS Task Force. Research criteria for the diagnosis of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP). Neurology 1991; 41: 617-8
- Molenaar DS, Vermeulen M, de Haan R. Diagnostic value of sural nerve biopsy in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1998; 64: 84-9
- Saperstein DS, Katz JS, Amato AA, et al. Clinical spectrum of chronic acquired demyelinating polyneuropathies. Muscle Nerve 2001; 24: 311-24
- Nicolas G, Maisonobe T, Le Forestier N, et al. INCAT Group. Proposed revised electrophysiological criteria for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Muscle Nerve 2002; 25: 26-30
- Kelly JJ, Kyle RA, O'Brien PC, et al. The prevalence of monoclonal gammopathy in peripheral neuropathy. Neurology 1981; 31: 1480-3
- Ropper AH, Gorson KC. Neuropathies associated with paraproteinemia. New Engl J Med 1998; 338: 1601-7
- Lunn MPT, Manji H, Choudhary PP, et al. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy: a prevalence study in south east England. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1999; 66: 677-80
- McLeod JG, Pollard JD, Macaskill P, et al. Prevalence of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy in New South Wales, Australia. Ann Neurol 1999; 46: 910-2
- Lewis RA, Sumner AJ, Brown MJ, et al. Multifocal demyelinating neuropathy with persistent conduction block. Neurology 1982; 32: 958-64
- Saperstein DS, Amato AA, Wolfe GI, et al. Multifocal acquired demyelinating motor and sensory motor neuropathy: the Lewis-Sumner syndrome. Muscle Nerve 2000; 22: 560-6
- Nobile-Orazio E. Multifocal motor neuropathy. J Neuroimmunol 2001; 115: 4-18
- Simmons Z, Albers JW, Bromberg MB, et al. Long-term follow-up of patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy, without and with monoclonal gammopathy. Brain 1995; 118: 359-68
- Bouchard C, Lacroix C, Planté V, et al. Clinicopathologic findings and prognosis of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Neurology 1999; 52: 498-503
- 25. Hughes RAC, Choudhary PP, Osborn M, et al. Immunisation and risk of relapse of Guillain-Barré syndrome or chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Muscle Nerve 1996; 19: 1230-1
- McCombe PA, McManis PG, Frith JA, et al. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy associated with pregnancy. Ann Neurol 1987; 21: 102-4
- Markson L, Janzen D, Bril V. Response to therapy in demyelinating motor neuropathy. Muscle Nerve 1998; 21: 1769-71
- Hattori N, Misu K, Koike H, et al. Age of onset influences clinical features of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neurol Sci 2001; 184: 57-63
- Meléndez-Vásquez C, Redford J, Choudhary PP, et al. Immunological investigation of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. J Neuroimmunol 1997; 73: 124-34

- Khalili-Shirazi A, Hughes RAC, Brostoff S, et al. T cell response to myelin proteins in Guillain-Barré syndrome. J Neurol Sci 1992; 111: 200-3
- Hartung H-P, Hughes RAC, Taylor WA, et al. T cell activation in Guillain-Barré syndrome and in MS: Elevated serum levels of soluble IL-2 receptors. Neurology 1990; 40: 215-8
- 32. Misawa S, Kuwabara S, Mori M, et al. Serum levels of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Neurology 2001; 56: 666-9
- Schmidt B, Toyka KV, Kiefer R, et al. Inflammatory infiltrates in sural nerve biopsies in Guillain- Barré syndrome and chronic inflammatory demyelinating neuropathy. Muscle Nerve 1996; 19: 474-87
- Bosboom WMJ, Van den Berg LH, De Boer L, et al. The diagnostic value of sural nerve T cells in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Neurology 1999; 53: 837-45
- 35. Bosboom WM, Van den Berg LH, Mollee I, et al. Sural nerve T-cell receptor Vβ gene utilization in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy and vasculitic neuropathy. Neurology 2001; 56: 74-81
- Khalili-Shirazi A, Gregson NA, Hall MA, et al. T cell receptor VB gene usage in Guillain-Barré Syndrome. J Neurol Sci 1997; 145: 169-76
- 37. Connolly AM, Pestronk A, Trotter JL, et al. High-titer selective serum anti-β-tubulin antibodies in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Neurology 1993; 43: 557-62
- van Schaik IN, Vermeulen M, van Doorn PA, et al. Anti-betatubulin antibodies have no diagnostic value in patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. J Neurol 1995; 242: 599-603
- Manfredini E, Nobile-Orazio E, Allaria S, et al. Anti-alpha- and beta-tubulin IgM antibodies in dysimmune neuropathies. J Neurol Sci 1995; 133: 79-84
- van Doorn PA, Brand A, Vermeulen M. Anti-neuroblastoma cell line antibodies in inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: inhibition in vitro and in vivo by IV immunoglobulin. Neurology 1988; 38: 1592-5
- Gabriel CM, Gregson NA, Hughes RAC. Anti-PMP22 antibodies in patients with inflammatory neuropathy. J Neuroimmunol 2000; 104: 139-46
- Khalili-Shirazi A, Atkinson P, Gregson N, et al. Antibody responses to P0 and P2 myelin proteins in Guillain- Barré syndrome and chronic idiopathic demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. J Neuroimmunol 1993; 46: 245-52
- Yan WX, Archelos JJ, Hartung HP, et al. P0 protein is a target antigen in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Ann Neurol 2001; 50: 286-92
- Kwa MS, van Schaik IN, Brand A, et al. Investigation of serum response to PMP22, connexin 32 and P0 in inflammatory neuropathies. J Neuroimmunol 2001; 116: 220-5
- Ritz M-F, Lechner-Scott J, Scott RJ, et al. Characterisation of autoantibodies to peripheral myelin protein 22 in patients with hereditary and acquired neuropathies. J Neuroimmunol 2000; 104: 155-63
- De Luca G, Lugaresi A, Iarlori C, et al. Interferon beta normalizes suppressor cell function in dysimmune neuropathies. J Neuroimmunol 1998; 82: 1-4
- Adams D, Festenstein H, Gibson JD, et al. HLA antigens in chronic relapsing idiopathic inflammatory neuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1979; 42: 184-6
- Stewart GJ, Pollard JD, McLeod JG, et al. HLA antigens in the Landry-Guillain-Barre syndrome and chronic relapsing polyneuritis. Ann Neurol 1978; 4: 285-9

- Vaughan RW, Adam AM, Gray IA, et al. Major histocompatibility complex class I and class II polymorphism in chronic idiopathic demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. J Neuroimmunol 1990; 27: 149-53
- Dalakas MC, Engel WK. Chronic relapsing (dysimmune) polyneuropathy: pathogenesis and treatment. Ann Neurol 1981;
   134-45
- Molenaar DSM, van Doorn PA, Vermeulen M. Pulsed high dose dexamethasone treatment in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: a pilot study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1997; 62: 388-90
- Nevo Y, Pestronk A, Kornberg AJ, et al. Childhood chronic inflammatory demyelinating neuropathies: clinical course and long-term follow-up. Neurology 1996; 47: 98-102
- Simmons Z, Wald JJ, Albers JW. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy in children. 1. Presentation, electrodiagnostic studies, and initial clinical course, with comparison to adults. Muscle Nerve 1997; 20: 1008-15
- Hattori N, Ichimura M, Aoki S, et al. Clinicopathological features of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy in childhood. J Neurol Sci 1998; 154: 66-71
- Dyck PJ, O'Brien PC, Oviatt KF, et al. Prednisone improves chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy more than no treatment. Ann Neurol 1982; 11: 136-41
- Donaghy M, Mills KR, Boniface SJ, et al. Pure motor demyelinating neuropathy: deterioration after steroid treatment and improvement with intravenous immunoglobulin. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1994; 57: 778-83
- Levy RL, Newkirk R, Ochoa J. Treatment of chronic relapsing Guillain-Barre Syndrome by plasma exchange. Lancet 1979; 2: 741
- Server AC, Lefkowith J, Braine H, et al. Treatment of chronic relapsing inflammatory polyradiculoneuropathy by plasma exchange. Ann Neurol 1979; 6: 258-61
- Gross MLP, Thomas PK. The treatment of chronic relapsing and chronic progressive idiopathic inflammatory polyneuropathy by plasma exchange. J Neurol Sci 1981; 52: 69-78
- Toyka KV, Augspach R, Wietholter H, et al. Plasma exchange in chronic inflammatory polyneuropathy: evidence suggestive of a pathogenic humoral factor. Muscle Nerve 1982; 5: 479-84
- Wrobel CJ, Watson D. Plasmapheresis in chronic demyelinating polyneuropathy. N Engl J Med 1992; 326: 1089-90
- Dyck PJ, Daube J, O'Brien P, et al. Plasma exchange in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. N Engl J Med 1986; 314: 461-5
- Hahn AF, Bolton CF, Pillay N, et al. Plasma-exchange therapy in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP): a double-blind, sham-controlled, cross-over study. Brain 1996; 119: 1055-66
- Bromberg M, Feldman EL, Jaradeh S, et al. Prognosis in longterm immunosuppressive treatment of refractory chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. J Clin Epidemiol 1992; 45: 47-52
- Choudhary PP, Hughes RAC. Long-term treatment of chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy with plasma exchange or intravenous immunoglobulin. Q J Med 1995; 88: 493-502
- Hadden R, Bensa S, Lunn MP, et al. Immunoadsorption inferior to plasma exchange in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2002; 72: 644-6

- Couriel D, Weinstein R. Complications of therapeutic plasma exchange: a recent assessment. J Clin Apheresis 1994; 9 (1):
- Maas AI, Busch HF, van der Heul C. Plasma infusion and plasma exchange in chronic idiopathic polyneuropathy. N Engl J Med 1981; 305: 344
- Vermeulen M, van der Meché FGA, Speelman JD, et al. Plasma and gamma-globulin infusion in chronic inflammatory polyneuropathy. J Neurol Sci 1985; 70: 317-26
- Hahn AF, Bolton CF, Zochodne D, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin treatment (IVIg) in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP): a double-blind placebocontrolled cross-over study. Brain 1996; 119: 1067-78
- Mendell JR, Barohn RJ, Freimer ML, et al. Randomized controlled trial of IVIg in untreated chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Neurology 2001; 56: 445-9
- Thompson N, Choudhary P, Hughes R, et al. A novel trial design to study the effect of intravenous immunoglobulin in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. J Neurol 1996; 243: 280-5
- Vermeulen M, van Doorn PA, Brand A, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin treatment in patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: a double blind, placebo controlled study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1993; 56: 36-9
- Dyck PJ, Litchy WJ, Kratz KM, et al. A plasma exchange versus immune globulin infusion trial in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Ann Neurol 1994; 36: 838-45
- Hughes RAC, Bensa S, Willison HJ, et al. Randomized controlled trial of intravenous immunoglobulin versus oral prednisolone in chronic inflammatory demyelinating poly radiculoneuropathy. Ann Neurol 2001; 50: 195-201
- van Doorn PA, Vermeulen M, Brand A, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin treatment in patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: clinical and laboratory characteristics associated with improvement. Arch Neurol 1991: 48: 217-20
- Wiles CM, Brown P, Chapelle S, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin in neurological disease: a specialist review. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2002; 72: 440-8
- Dyck PJ, Prineas J, Pollard JD. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. In: Dyck PJ, Thomas PK, Griffin JW, et al., editors. Peripheral Neuropathy. Philadelphia (PA): W.B. Saunders Company, 1993: 1498-517
- Dyck PJ, O'Brien P, Swanson C, et al. Combined azathioprine and prednisone in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Neurology 1985; 35: 1173-6
- British and Dutch Multiple Sclerosis Azathioprine Trial Group.
  Double-masked trial of azathioprine in multiple sclerosis.
  Lancet 1988; 2: 179-83
- Palace J, Newsom-Davis J, Lecky B. A randomized doubleblind trial of prednisolone alone or with azathioprine in myasthenia gravis. Myasthenia Gravis Study Group. Neurology 1998; 50: 1778-83
- Confavreux C, Saddier P, Grimaud J, et al. Risk of cancer from azathioprine therapy in multiple sclerosis: a case-control study. Neurology 1996; 46: 1607-12
- 83. Kissel JT, Levy RJ, Mendell JR, et al. Azathioprine toxicity in neuromuscular disease. Neurology 1986; 36: 35-9
- Chocair PR, Duley JA, Simmonds HA, et al. The importance of thiopurine methyltransferase activity for the use of azathioprine in transplant recipients. Transplantation 1992; 53: 1051-6

- Good JL, Chehrenama M, Mayer RF, et al. Pulse cyclophosphamide therapy in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Neurology 1998; 51: 1735-8
- 86. Brannagan TH III, Pradhan A, Heiman-Patterson T, et al. Highdose cyclophosphamide without stem-cell rescue for refractory CIDP. Neurology 2002; 58: 1856-8
- Hefter H, Sprenger KBG, Arendt G, et al. Treatment of chronic relapsing inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy by cyclosporin A and plasma exchange. J Neurol 1990; 237: 320-3
- Barnett MH, Pollard JD, Davies L, et al. Cyclosporin A in resistant chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Muscle Nerve 1998; 21 (4): 454-60
- Hodgkinson SJ, Pollard JD, McLeod JG. Cyclosporin A in the treatment of chronic demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1990; 53: 327-30
- Ahlmén J, Andersen O, Hallgren G, et al. Positive effect of tacrolimus (FK 506) in a case of CIDP. 3rd International Conference on New trends in Clinical and Experimental Immunosuppression; 1998 Feb 12-15; Geneva, 110
- 91. Mowzoon N, Sussman A, Bradley WG. Mycophenolate (CellCept) treatment of myasthenia gravis, chronic inflammatory polyneuropathy and inclusion body myositis. J Neurol Sci 2001; 185: 119-22
- Chaudhry V, Cornblath DR, Griffin JW, et al. Mycophenolate mofetil: a safe and promising immunosuppressant in neuromuscular diseases. Neurology 2001; 72: 440-8
- Latov N, Sherman WH. Improvement with Etanercept (Enbrel) in Chronic Inflammatory Demyelinating Polyneuropathy [abstract]. Ann Neurol 2001; 50: 473
- Sicotte NL, Voskuhl RR. Onset of multiple sclerosis associated with anti-TF therapy. Neurology 2001; 57: 1885-8
- Vermeulen M, van Oers MH. Successful autologous stem cell transplantation in a patient with CIDP [abstract]. J Peripher Nerv Syst 2001; 6: 188
- Choudhary PP, Thompson N, Hughes RAC. Improvement following interferon beta in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. J Neurol 1995; 242: 252-3
- Kuntzer T, Radziwill AJ, Lettry-Trouillat R, et al. Interferonbeta1a in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Neurology 1999; 53: 1364-5
- Martina ISJ, van Doorn PA, Schmitz PIM, et al. Chronic motor neuropathies: response to interferon-β1a after failure of conventional therapies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1999; 66: 197-201
- Hadden RDM, Sharrack B, Bensa S, et al. Randomized trial of interferon beta-1a in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. Neurology 1999; 53: 57-61
- PRISMS Study Group. Randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled study of interferon-beta 1a in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Lancet 1998; 353: 1498-504
- 101. The PRISMS (Prevention of Relapses and Disability by Interferon-β-1a Subcutaneously in Multiple Sclerosis) Study Group, and the University of British Columbia MS/MRI Analysis Group, Hughes RAC. PRISMS-4: long-term efficacy of interferon-beta-1a in relapsing MS. Neurology 2001; 56: 1628-36
- 102. Radziwill AJ, Kuntzer T, Fuhr P, et al. Long term follow up in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (CIDP) under interferon beta-1a (IFN-β1α) and intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg). J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2001; 70: 273
- Marzo ME, Tintore M, Fabregues O, et al. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy during treatment with interferon-alpha. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1998; 65: 604

- Meriggioli MN, Rowin J. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy after treatment with interferon-alpha. Muscle Nerve 2000; 23: 433-5
- 105. Gorson KC, Allam G, Simovic D, et al. Improvement following interferon-alpha 2A in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy. Neurology 1997; 48: 777-80
- 106. Sabatelli M, Quaranta L, Madia F, et al. Interferon alpha may benefit CIDP patients refractory to standard therapies: description of long-term results in 12 patients. J Periph Nerv Syst 2001; 6: 173
- 107. Van den Berg LH, Kerkhoff H, Oey PL, et al. Treatment of multifocal motor neuropathy with high dose intravenous immunoglobulins: a double blind, placebo controlled study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1995; 59: 248-52
- Federico P, Zochodne DW, Hahn AF, et al. Multifocal motor neuropathy improved by IVIg: randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Neurology 2000; 55: 1256-62
- Léger J-M, Chassande B, Musset L, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin in the treatment of multifocal motor neuropathy

- with persistent conduction blocks: a randomized doubleblind placebo controlled study. Brain 2000; 124: 145-53
- Hughes RAC. Management of chronic peripheral neuropathy.
  Proc R Coll Physicians Edinb 2000; 30: 321-7
- Pollard JD, Selby G. Relapsing neuropathy due to tetanus toxoid. J Neurol Sci 1978; 37: 113-25
- Merkies IS, Schmitz PI, Samijn JP, et al. Fatigue in immunemediated polyneuropathies. European Inflammatory Neuropathy Cause and Treatment (INCAT) Group. Neurology 1999; 53: 1648-54

Correspondence and offprints: Professor *Richard A. C. Hughes*, Department of Clinical Neurosciences, Guy's, King's and St Thomas' School of Medicine, London, SE1 1UL, UK.

E-mail: richard.a.hughes@kcl.ac.uk